
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Chair & Members of the Customer 
Services Scrutiny Committee   
 
 
Thursday 11th January 2024 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Arc 
High Street 

Clowne 
S43 4JY 

 
Contact: Alison Bluff 

Telephone: 01246 242528 
Email: alison.bluff@bolsover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Dear Councillor 
 
CUSTOMER SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Customer Services Scrutiny 
Committee of the Bolsover District Council to be held in the Council Chamber, The 
Arc, Clowne on Monday, 22nd January, 2024 at 10:00 hours.  
 
Register of Members' Interests - Members are reminded that a Member must within 
28 days of becoming aware of any changes to their Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
provide written notification to the Authority's Monitoring Officer. 
 
You will find the contents of the agenda itemised on page 3 onwards. 
  
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

1



 

 
 
 

Equalities Statement 
 

Bolsover District Council is committed to equalities as an employer and when 
delivering the services it provides to all sections of the community. 

The Council believes that no person should be treated unfairly and is committed to 
eliminating all forms of discrimination, advancing equality, and fostering good 
relations between all groups in society. 
 
 
 

 
Access for All statement 

 
You can request this document or information in another format such as large print 
or language or contact us by: 

 Phone: 01246 242424 

 Email: enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk 

 BSL Video Call: A three-way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is 
free to call Bolsover District Council with Sign Solutions, you just need WiFi 
or mobile data to make the video call, or call into one of our Contact Centres.  

 Call with Relay UK - a free phone service provided by BT for anyone who 
has difficulty hearing or speaking. It's a way to have a real-time conversation 
with us by text.  

 Visiting one of our offices at Clowne, Bolsover, Shirebrook and South 
Normanton 

 

2

file:///C:/Users/scotc/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/JPNCTJCX/01246%20242424
mailto:enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk
https://www.relayuk.bt.com/
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/contact-us


 

 

CUSTOMER SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
Monday 22nd January 2024 at 10:00 hours taking place in the Council Chamber,  

The Arc, Clowne 
 

Item No. 
 

 Page 
No.(s) 

 PART A - FORMAL 
 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Urgent Items of Business 
 

 

 To note any urgent items of business which the Chairman has 
consented to being considered under the provisions of Section 100(B) 
4(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 Members should declare the existence and nature of any Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest and Non Statutory Interest as defined by the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of: 
 
a) any business on the agenda 
b) any urgent additional items to be considered 
c) any matters arising out of those items and if appropriate, withdraw 
from the meeting at the relevant time. 
 

 

4.   Minutes – 20th November 2023 
 

To Follow 

5.   List of Key Decisions and Items to be Considered in Private 
 

4 - 9 

 (Members should contact the officer whose name appears on the List 
of Key Decisions for any further information. NB: If Members wish to 
discuss an exempt report under this item, the meeting will need to 
move into exempt business and exclude the public in accordance with 
the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 and Local 
Government Act 1972, Part 1, Schedule 12a for that part of the 
meeting only). 
 

 

6.   Private Sector Housing Strategy 
 

10 - 56 

7.   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
2023/24 
 

57 - 63 

 PART B - INFORMAL 
 

 

8.   Review Work 
 

 

3



 

1 

 

Key Decisions & Items to be Considered in Private 
 

To be made under the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 
 

Published on: 21st December 2023 
 

4

A
genda Item

 5



 

2 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The list attached sets out decisions that are termed as “Key Decisions” at least 28 calendar days before they are due to be taken by the 
Executive or an officer under delegated powers.  
 
Preparation of the list helps Executive to programme its work.  The purpose of the list is to give notice and provide an opportunity for 
consultation on the issues to be discussed.  The list is updated each month with the period of the list being rolled forward by one month 
and republished.  The list is available for public inspection at the The Arc, High Street, Clowne, S43 4JY. Copies of the list can be 
obtained from Jim Fieldsend, Monitoring Officer, at this address or by email to jim.fieldsend@bolsover.gov.uk. The list can also be 
accessed from the Council’s website at www.bolsover.gov.uk. 
 
The Executive is allowed to make urgent decisions which do not appear in the list, however, a notice will be published at The Arc and on 
the Council’s website explaining the reasons for the urgent decisions.  Please note that the decision dates are indicative and are subject 
to change. 
 
Members of Executive are as follows: 
 
Councillor Steve Fritchley - Leader and Portfolio Holder for Policy, Strategy and Communications 
Councillor Duncan McGregor - Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Corporate Performance and Governance  
Councillor John Ritchie - Portfolio Holder for Growth 
Councillor Anne Clarke - Portfolio Holder for Environment 
Councillor Sandra Peake Portfolio Holder for Housing  
Councillor Mary Dooley - Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing 
Councillor Clive Moesby - Portfolio Holder for Resources 
 
The Executive agenda and reports are available for inspection by the public five clear days prior to the meeting of the Executive.  The 
papers can be seen at The Arc at the above address.  The papers are also available on the Council’s website referred to above.  
Background papers are listed on each report submitted to the Executive and members of the public are entitled to see these documents 
unless they contain exempt or confidential information.  The report also contains the name and telephone number of a contact officer. 
 
Meetings of the Executive are open to the public and usually take place in the Council Chamber at The Arc.  Occasionally there are items 
included on the agenda which are exempt and for those items the public will be asked to leave the meeting.  This list also shows the 
reports intended to be dealt with in private and the reason why the reports are exempt or confidential.  Members of the public may make 
representations to the Monitoring Officer about any particular item being considered in exempt and why they think it should be dealt with 
in public.  
 

5



 

3 

The list does not detail all decisions which have to be taken by the Executive, only “Key Decisions” and “Exempt Reports”.  In these 
Rules a “Key Decision” means an Executive decision, which is likely: 

 
(1) REVENUE  
 
 (a) Results in the Council making Revenue Savings of £75,000 or more; or  
 (b) Results in the Council incurring Revenue Expenditure of £75,000 or more  
 
(2) CAPITAL 
 
 (a) Results in the Council making Capital Income of £150,000 or more; or  
 (b) Results in the Council incurring Capital Expenditure of £150,000 or more  

 
(3)  to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the District. 
 
In determining the meaning of “significant” the Council must have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the Secretary of 
State.  The Council has decided that revenue income or expenditure of £75,000 or more and capital income or expenditure of £150,000 
or more is significant. 
 
The dates for meetings of Executive can be found here: 
 
https://committees.bolsover.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1147 
 

 The Council hereby gives notice of its intention to make the following Key Decisions and/or decisions to be considered in private: 

6

https://committees.bolsover.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1147


Matter in respect of which 
a decision will be taken 

 

Decision 
Maker 

Date of 
Decision 

Documents to 
be considered 

Contact Officer Is this decision a Key 
Decision? 

 

Is this key decision 
to be heard in public 

or private session 

4 

Dragonfly Management 
(Bolsover) Limited-
Service Level Agreement 
- to provide details of the 
service level agreement 
it is proposed to be 
entered into with 
Dragonfly Management 
(Bolsover) Ltd in 
connection to the 
services the company 
will provide to the 
Council.  To seek 
approval for the Council 
to complete the service 
level agreement. 

Executive 

 

29th 
January 
2024 

 

Report of 
Councillor John 
Ritchie, 
Portfolio Holder 
for Growth 

 

Jim Fieldsend, 
Monitoring Officer 

 

 

Key - It is likely to 
result in the Council 
making revenue 
savings or incurring 
Revenue expenditure 
of £75,000 or more. 

 

Public Session 

 

 

Lease to 2WL Limited at 
Pleasley Vale Business 
Park - to update 
Members on the 
outcome of lease 
negotiations with 2WL 
Limited following the 
approval by Executive 
on 6th September 2021 
to agree terms.  To seek 
Members approval to 
enter into a new lease 
agreement with 2WL 
Limited at Pleasley Vale 
Business Park on the 
negotiated terms as set 
out in the report. 

Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29th 
January 
2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report of 
Councillor John 
Ritchie, 
Portfolio Holder 
for Growth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sally Lovell, Business 
Estates Manager  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key - It is likely to 
result in the Council 
making revenue 
savings or incurring 
Revenue expenditure 
of £75,000 or more. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The report will be 
considered in Public 
Session, however, the 
details of the lease 
(appendix 1) is exempt 
business. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7



Matter in respect of which 
a decision will be taken 

 

Decision 
Maker 

Date of 
Decision 

Documents to 
be considered 

Contact Officer Is this decision a Key 
Decision? 

 

Is this key decision 
to be heard in public 
or private session 

5 

Purchase of 1No. DAF 
FALF 230 (16tonne) 
vehicle with Scarab 
Merlin sweeping body for 
utilisation in the Council’s 
street cleansing function 
at £186,445, from Motus 
Holding, inclusive of first 
registration fee and 
delivery. 

 

 
 

Chief 
Executive 

 

 

19th 
December 
2023 

 

Delegated 
Decision 
Notice 
20156/KH/191
223, issued on 
19th December 
2023  

 

Assistant Director 
Streetscene 

 

 

Key - It is likely to 
result in the Council 
making revenue 
savings or incurring 
Revenue expenditure 
of £75,000 or more. 

 

 

 

 

The decision is urgent 
and one that is not 
subject to call in. The 
Chair of the Customer 
Services Scrutiny 
Committee has been 
consulted in 
accordance with 
Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules and has agreed 
it is urgent and not 
subject to call in. 

8



6 

SCHEDULE 12A 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION: EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
PART 1 
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1. Information relating to any individual. 
 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority. 

 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 
 

_______________  

9



 

 
 

 
Bolsover District Council 

 
Meeting of the Customer Services Scrutiny Committee on 22nd January 2024 

 
Private Sector Housing Strategy 

 
Report of the Assistant Director Housing Management and Enforcement 

 

Classification This report is Public. 
 

Contact Officer  Victoria Dawson 
Assistant Director Housing Management and Enforcement 
 
Joanne Wilson 
Housing Strategy and Development Officer 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

• To consider and provide comment on the draft Private Sector Housing Strategy 
2024-2027. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 

REPORT DETAILS 
 

1. Background 

 
1.1 Housing is one of the key determinants of health.  The quality of people’s homes 

is strongly related to economic prosperity and minimising the adverse effects of 
poor housing remains a major challenge for the Council.  Living in a home which 
is in good condition, that the household can afford to heat, and is in an area in 
which they feel safe and well supported by the local community underpins the 
wellbeing of individuals and families.  The impact of poor housing in childhood 
can affect an individual for a lifetime and can affect physical, social, and 
psychological development.  Damp, mould, cold, and overcrowded conditions 
can lead directly to physical illness and there is also increasing evidence that 
poor housing conditions can seriously affect people’s mental health and sense of 
wellbeing 

  
1.2 During 2019, Derby City Council developed a desktop survey approach to assess 

the condition of private sector housing across Derbyshire.  It established that 
Bolsover District Council had complex housing issues within the private rented 
sector.  Issues of quality, price and management continually cause difficulty both 
in terms of creating homelessness and trying to house people in suitable 
accommodation. 
 

1.3 Owner occupied and privately rented properties make up over 83.3% of homes in 
Bolsover (Census 2021).  Many homes in the private sector in Bolsover are in 
poor condition. 45.8% do not meet EPC C, and 16.3% of owner-occupied homes 
and 18.6% of private rented homes fail the Decent Homes Standard for having a 

10

Agenda Item 6



 

Category 1 hazard, which poses a serious and immediate risk to a person's 
health. 

 
As a result of the stock condition survey, officers wanted to develop robust and 
ambitious private sector housing strategies to help engage with the private 
sector, to improve the quality of accommodation, develop good management 
practices, and reduce homelessness. 
 

1.4 In November 2022, jointly with North East Derbyshire District Council, the 
Council was successful in securing £20,000 from the LGA Housing Advisors 
Programme to develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy for each district.  We 
appointed Arc4 Housing consultants and work began in earnest from April 2023. 
 

1.5 The aim of the project was to: 
 

• access and report on information relating to the make-up of the private 
rented sector including the stock condition surveys and most recent 
Census data 

• engage and consult with private landlords, tenants and other stakeholders, 
to get their views on the issues affecting them 

• assess the various options available to NEDDC/BDC to intervene in the 
private rented sector 

• develop and recommend proposals for Members to consider 

• enable both councils to protect the viability of the private rented market in 
both Districts especially in relation to affordability. 

 
The key outcomes identified for achievement included a focus on corporate 
commitment to engage with and support the private rented sector.  Previously 
our collective understanding and interaction with the sector has focused on 
traditional local authority functions such as housing benefit payments, housing 
standards enforcement, empty property work and homelessness prevention. 
 
We wanted and needed to change this approach so that we can better work with 
and utilise the sector to the benefit of our residents.  Moving forward, we want to 
develop and explore innovative new approaches to funding and policies to drive 
improvements in quality and management standards.  We also want to protect 
the stock that we have, and increase the availability of accommodation to our 
residents who would otherwise be excluded from the sector. 
 
Interviews with key stakeholders have taken place and we now have an evidence 
base which is extremely comprehensive and timely, given the uncertain 
economic times.  Landlord and tenant surveys have been completed on-line and 
ran for an extended period from 29th May 2023 to 1st September 2023. 
 
The proposed Private Sector Strategy sets out the Councils plans for achieving 
good quality housing across the existing private sector stock. 

 

2. Details of Proposal or Information 

 
2.1  The Council’s Housing Strategy 2021-2024 commits to developing a Private 

Sector Strategy and Action Plan to deliver the recommendations identified in the 
Stock Condition Survey, which were: 

11



 

• Continue to work with partners (Derbyshire County Council, Derby City 
Council, NHS, and other districts) to examine how housing and health 
data can be collated to maintain a database that can be updated on a 
regular basis and used more systematically. 

• Working with partners to use the data to inform both health and housing 
policy with a view to increasing housing interventions in support of 
addressing health inequalities and improving health and wellbeing of 
residents. 

• Use the data to develop an action plan to address specific housing issues 
identified within the report to improve health outcomes. 

 
The Strategy’s focus is the both the private rented sector and owner occupiers.  It 
has been developed to help the Council better understand the key challenges, 
the activity and performance of the market, how and where to focus resources, 
and the scale of the challenge that is being faced. 

 

2.2 Policy Context 

The home is a driver of health inequalities.  Inadequate housing causes or 
contributes to many preventable diseases and injuries, including respiratory, 
nervous system and cardiovascular diseases, and cancer (source: World Health 
Organisation Regional Office for Europe Report (2012).  Direct effects of an 
inadequate home on a person’s health can include heart attacks, stroke, 
respiratory disease, flu, falls and injuries, hypothermia, and poor mental health.  
This in turn can lead to greater demand for health and emergency services.  Poor 
housing is estimated to cost the NHS at least £600 million per year in first year 
treatment costs alone (source: Building Research Establishment and the 
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 2010).  Good housing leads to good 
health. 

 

2.3 Stock Condition 

There is a gradient of risk with age of the property, the risk being greatest in 
dwellings built before 1850, and lowest in the more energy efficient dwellings 
built after 1980.  Data gathered as part of the stock condition survey shows the 
percentage of property built pre-1944 across Derbyshire and Chart 3.8, the age 
of stock in Bolsover. Bolsover has the 5th highest proportion of properties built 
before 1944 across Derbyshire. 

 
The 2021 Census confirms that there are 29,383 households living in the private 
sector in Bolsover.  This represents 83.3% of all stock. 
 
The 2021 Census also confirms that there are 6,119 households living in the 
Private Rented Sector in Bolsover.  This is 17.4% of all households.  Bolsover 
has the second largest Private Rented Sector across Derbyshire and grew by 2.8 
percentage points since 2011.  In 2001, it was 9.8%.  The owner-occupied sector 
has reduced since 2001 from 69.0% to 65.9% in 2021. 

  

2.4 Stakeholder Feedback 

 A range of discussions took place with officers, partners and agents as part of 
completing the stock condition survey, which have fed into the development of 
the strategy and the objectives. In addition specific targeted consultation with 
was undertaken with landlords and tenants in the Rented Sector. 21 landlords 

12



 

and 84 tenants completed the online survey as part of developing the evidence 
base. 
 

2.5 Landlord and Tenant Feedback 

21 landlords and 84 tenants completed the online survey as part of developing 
the evidence base. 
 
71% of landlords who responded to the survey are a member of the Landlord 
Accreditation scheme (DASH).  The survey confirmed that 71% of landlords in 
Bolsover are planning to sell their properties, with a further 10% considering this 
as an option.  When asked to indicate the reason for selling their properties, 71% 
of landlords responded that there is too much regulation, 38% agreed it was no 
longer profitable, 19% had too many problems with tenants, and 5% of landlords 
were selling to benefit from the value of the property.  Other reasons given by 
landlords for selling their property included EPC requirements, the end of no fault 
evictions, lack of interest relief, and council charges when the property is vacant, 
with one landlord going as far as calling them ‘anti landlord policies’.  24% of 
landlords specified interest in receiving information about the council’s landlord 
events. 
 

Implications for the Private Sector Housing Strategy 

• Further promotion of DASH 

• Support to ensure properties remain in the Private Rented Sector 

• Introduction of Loans 

• Further promotion of the landlord’s forum with training, support and a safe 
place to voice concerns 

• Specific advice and guidance on landlord legal requirements 

• Support for more vulnerable tenants and advice for landlords about how to 
provide support 

 
The majority of tenants in Bolsover who responded to the survey live in a house 
(85%).  8% of respondents live in a flat and 7% live in a bungalow.  31% of 
tenants are satisfied with the value for money with regards to their rent, 33% are 
satisfied with the current condition of their property, and 26% are satisfied with 
the maintenance and general upkeep of the property.  Energy efficiency was one 
area of this section of the survey where responses were weighted more 
negatively, with 27% of tenants dissatisfied and 14% very dissatisfied with the 
energy efficiency of their property, and a further 30% neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied. 
 
99% of tenants had a way to contact their landlord/letting agent when they 
needed to but only 64% felt able to complain to their landlord about their home if 
there was a problem.  Only 20% of tenants reported concerns with the behaviour 
of their landlord/letting agent and 80% had no concerns.  5% of tenants 
responded to indicate their landlord is a member of the Landlord Accreditation 
scheme (DASH), 5% of tenants did not think their landlord was a member, and 
90% did not know. 
 

13



 

With regards to places where tenants would like to see/get information to 
encourage people to report concerns, via the council website was the most 
popular method (63%), followed by post (57%), by phone (52%), face-to-face 
advice (46%), Facebook (27%), leaflets (18%), posters (16%), Twitter (5%), 
snapchat (5%), and emails (4%). 
 

Implications for the Private Sector Housing Strategy 

• Increased supply of affordable homes in the Private Rented Sector 

• Ensuring promotion of ‘cost of living’ initiatives to tenants, potentially via 
landlords 

• Promotion of the positive role the council can play in supporting poor 
landlord practices 

 

2.6 Proposed Objectives and Outcomes 

 
This Strategy will meet the Council’s Ambition Statement 2024-2028 vision and 
aims through the delivery of 4 Objectives: 
 

• Objective 1: Improve Property and Management Standards 

• Objective 2: Maintain and Improve the Supply of Good Quality, Well-
Managed Homes in the Private Rented Sector 

• Objective 3: Ensuring that Housing Standards and Living Conditions in 
Bolsover Contribute Towards Better Health Outcomes for All 

• Objective: 4: Ensuring All Areas, Neighbourhoods, and Streets in 
Bolsover, irrespective of Housing Tenure or Type, Are Places Where 
People Want to Live and Are Proud to Live 

 
The strategy is accompanied by an action plan which sets out what the Council 
hopes to achieve and by when.  The action plan will be agreed with partners and 
stakeholders and will be used to monitor progress over the period of the strategy. 
 
The outcomes that will be achieved through this strategy are: 

• Improved property condition across the private sector. 

• Improved management standards across the private rented sector. 

• Improved energy efficiency of homes in the private sector. 

• Reduced number of properties with a Category 1 hazard. 

• Reduced levels of Anti-Social Behaviour across our neighbourhood. 

• Reduced number of people presenting as homeless from the Private 
Rented Sector. 

• Increased access to the private rented sector to offer accommodation to 
homeless households. 

• Increased supply of high-quality affordable housing for the private rented 
market. 

• Residents living independently for longer. 

• Improved targeting of resources to maximise our impact in the private 
sector. 

• Reduced numbers of empty homes across the District. 
 

14



 

A safe, warm, and secure home underpins people’s ability to build a better quality 
of life and enables people to maintain independence.  Living where you can 
afford and having security in knowing you won’t be ‘kicked out’ at a moment’s 
notice helps people to put down roots and have a stable base, a sense of 
community, and belonging.  We want to make sure that homes in the private 
sector–whether owned or privately rented–are safe, well-managed, and well 
maintained and this Private Sector Housing Strategy sets out how we, along with 
our partners, will achieve this over the next 3 years (2024-27). 

 

3. Reasons for Recommendation 

 
3.1 The Council needs to take pro-active action following completion of the Private 

Sector Stock Condition Survey.  By adopting the Strategy and delivering the 
identified actions, this should generate marked improvement in the quality of 
private sector housing and improved management of the private rented sector. 

 
3.2 The Government is currently reviewing the Decent Homes Standard and it is 

expected that the new version will apply to the Private Rented Sector, which will 
give further impetus to the improvements the Council is trying to achieve. 

 

4. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
4.1 Members could choose not to support the adoption and delivery of the proposed 

Strategy but this would go against the recommendations of the private sector 
stock condition survey and cease delivery of a key action of the Housing Strategy 
2021-24. 

 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

1. That Members review the proposed Strategy and Delivery Plan and provide 
comment to officers as part of the consultation period. 

2. That Members confirm they are satisfied the proposals, with amendments if 
necessary, will meet the desired outcomes and recommend the Strategy for 
submission to Executive. 
 

Approved by Councillor Sandra Peake, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 

15



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details: 
There are no direct implications from the report and the suggested objectives within 
the Strategy and Action Plan can be delivered within existing budgets. 
 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):   Yes☒  No ☐  

Details 

Local Authorities have a legal duty under the Housing Act 2004 to keep the 
conditions of homes in their areas under review with a view to identifying any action 
that may need to be taken. 
 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

Environment:         Yes☒  No ☐ 

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment.  (Please speak to the Climate 
Change Lead Officer for advice) 
 
A core element of the Strategy is to improve the quality of housing in the private 
sector, this will include energy efficiency improvements in both the private rented 
and owner occupier sectors. 
 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details:  
There are no staffing implications arising from the report or policy. 

 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant 
impact on two or more District wards, or which results in income 
or expenditure to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies. 

 

No, but the final 
decision by 
Executive will be a 
Key Decision 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In) 
 

No, but the final 
decision by 
Executive will be 
subject to Call-In. 

 

16



 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

Yes, all Wards 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☒ 

SLT ☒ Relevant Service Manager ☒ 

Members ☒   Public ☒ Other ☒ 

 

During consultation process – 
all Councillors, all tenants, 
Customer Services Scrutiny 
and Tenant Participation 
Review and Development 
Group 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy, and Environment. 
 

Economy: 

• Enabling Housing Growth: increasing the supply, quality and range of housing 

to meet the needs of the growing population and support economic growth 

Customers: 

• Promoting equality, diversity and supporting vulnerable and disadvantaged 

people 

• Providing good quality council housing where people choose to live 

Environment: 

• Reducing our carbon footprint whilst supporting and encouraging residents and 

businesses to do the same 

 
 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 

Title 

1 Draft Private Sector Housing Strategy 2024-2027 

2 Draft Private Sector Housing Strategy Delivery Plan 

 
 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report. They must be listed in the section below. If the report is going to 
Executive, you must provide copies of the background papers) 
 

Private Sector Stock Condition Survey 
 

 

17



Private 
Sector 
Housing 
Strategy

18

Appendix 1



Private Sector Housing Strategy2 Private Sector Housing Strategy

Contents
Introduction 3

Private sector market 5

Strategic priorities and achievements 8

Improve property and management standards 11

Maintain and improve the supply of good quality, well-managed homes in the private 
rented sector 16

Ensuring that housing standards and living conditions contribute towards better health 
outcomes for all 18

Ensuring all areas, neighbourhoods, and streets in Bolsover District, irrespective of 
housing tenure or type, are places where people want to live and are proud to live 22

Monitoring arrangements and delivery plan 25

2 19



Private Sector Housing Strategy 3Private Sector Housing Strategy 3

1. Introduction 
1.1 This Private Sector Housing Strategy is the 

first such strategy that we have published 
and supports our over-arching Housing 
Strategy by setting out our detailed plans 
for both home ownership and private rented 
housing.

Owner occupied and privately rented 
properties make up over 83.3% of homes in 
Bolsover District. This strategy sets out our 
plans for achieving good quality housing 
across the existing private sector stock–we 
believe that all residents should have the 
opportunity to live in a decent home.

1.2 Private sector housing performs a vital 
role in supporting our economic viability 
and meeting housing need in the District. 
Homes to buy have become increasingly 
unaffordable, and median property prices are 
now 9.3x median income levels, which has 
contributed to a major expansion in private 
renting. Consequently, rents in the private 
rented sector have also risen substantially, 
and households on lower income are 
spending up to 44% of their income on 
rents. For median income households, this 
figure is 51.8%. The private rented sector 
now provides homes for an increasingly 
diverse range of households and those 
reliant on Local Housing Allowance are being 
squeezed out of the market. In 2022, only 
1.7% of homes to rent on Zoopla were within 
Local Housing Allowance and this strategy 
considers interventions that will encourage 
more landlords to provide homes for rent 
within Local Housing Allowance levels. The 
private rented sector now houses 198% more 
households than it did in 2001 and accounts 
for 17.4% of all homes across the District, but 
whilst many private renters in Bolsover District 
are satisfied with their homes, this sector can 
be a very unfair playing field for lower income 
households. Whilst most private landlords 
take their responsibilities very seriously, there 
are unfortunately some private tenants who 
are subjected to a badly regulated sector 
which allows poor conditions, mistreatment 
from landlords, unstable tenancies, and 
extortionate rents. Too many residents are 
trapped in overpriced, and in many cases, 
poor quality rented accommodation. 

1.3 Whilst the private rented sector has grown, 
the owner-occupied sector has reduced in 
size from 69% of all households to 65.9% 
between 2001 and 2021. The stock condition 
survey confirmed in some markets over 
21.7% of owner-occupied homes fail the 
Decent Homes Standard. The case for 
well-insulated and energy efficient homes 
has never been greater. Climate change is 
already disrupting weather patterns and 
creating extremes that most homes in the 
UK are ill-equipped to cope with. In response 
to the root cause of climate change, we are 
committed to creating a net zero District by 
2050 and this strategy therefore responds to 
the challenges of supporting homeowners 
and landlords to make their homes more 
energy efficient. We also know that many 
homeowners are living in homes that need 
major repairs and are in poor condition but 
do not have the income levels to afford this 
work. Our strategy considers the different 
solutions, wemay be able to offer to support 
these vulnerable households.

1.4 Many homes in the private sector in Bolsover  
DIstrict are in poor condition. 45.8% do not 
meet EPC C, and 16.3% of owner-occupied 
homes and 18.6% of private rented homes 
fail the Decent Homes Standard for having 
a category 1 hazard, which poses a serious 
and immediate risk to a person’s health 
and as part of this strategy we commit to 
increasing the awareness of landlords of 
the Decent Homes Standard as well as more 
information on potential funding.

20



Private Sector Housing Strategy4 Private Sector Housing Strategy4

Our ambition for Bolsover District residents 
living in the private sector is that homes are 
safe, warm, and sustainable, and people feel 
invested in and connected to their home and 
local community.

This strategy reflects our strong commitment 
to realising this vision.

1.5 Housing is one of the key determinants 
of health. The quality of people’s homes 
is strongly related to economic prosperity 
and minimising the adverse effects of poor 
housing remains a major challenge for us. 
Living in a home which is in good condition, 
that the household can afford to heat, and 
is in an area in which they feel safe and well 
supported by the local community underpins 
the wellbeing of individuals and families. 
The impact of poor housing in childhood 
can affect an individual for a lifetime and 
can affect physical, social, and psychological 
development. Damp, mould, cold, and 
overcrowded conditions can lead directly to 
physical illness and there is also increasing 
evidence that poor housing conditions can 
seriously affect people’s mental health and 
sense of wellbeing.

1.6 The outcomes of an improved private sector 
are far more beneficial than improving 
housing conditions or the way homes are 
managed. A safe, warm, and secure home 
underpins people’s ability to build a better 
quality of life and enables people to maintain 
independence. Living where you can afford 
and having security in knowing you won’t 
be ‘kicked out’ at a moment’s notice helps 
people to put down roots and have a stable 
base, a sense of community, and belonging. 
We want to make sure that homes in the 
private secto, whether owned or privately 
rente, are safe, well-managed, and well 
maintained and this private sector strategy 
sets out how we, along with our partners, 
will achieve this over the next three years 
(2024-27).

1.7 It is therefore essential that we work with 
our partners to improve both property 
conditions and provide access to well-
managed private sector housing to help 
meet the housing needs of our residents.

21



Private Sector Housing Strategy 5

2. Private sector 
market
2.1 The information below summarises some of 

the key areas of work we are involved in.

• The main reason for homelessness in 2022/23 
was the loss of a private rented tenancy.

• The level of statutory homelessness across 
Derbyshire has decreased and in 2017-18 
was one per 1,000 households, significantly 
lower than the national average, but local 
data from district and borough councils 
indicates that over 3,000 homelessness 
assessments were made in 2020-21.

• 16.2% of households are living in fuel 
poverty.

• 16.3% of homes in the owner-occupied sector 
have category one hazards. This increases to 
18.6% in the private rented sector.

• 45.8% of private sector homes have an EPC 
rating of D or below. This rises to 65.7% for 
properties in the private rented sector.

• Derbyshire has similar levels of fuel poverty 
to the England average with the estimated 
percentage of households that experienced 
fuel poverty in 2018 of 10.6%.

• 1.9% of people living in the private sector in 
Bolsover District live in overcrowded homes.

• Household overcrowding Census 2021 figures 
show 3.1% of households were overcrowded, 
with the highest proportion of affected 
households in Shirebrook and Langwith.

522



Private Sector Housing Strategy6 Private Sector Housing Strategy6

RENT

• There are 29,383 households living in the private sector. This 
represents 83.3% of all stock.

• The size of the private rented sector has almost doubled since 
2001 from 9.38% to 17.4% in 2021.

• In 2022, the median rent level was £648pcm, an increase of 
32.2% since 2018.

• In 2022, only 1.7% of properties in the private rented sector 
advertised through Zoopla were within the Local Housing 
Allowance rate.

• Derbyshire has a higher-than-average proportion of older people 
(21.9% aged over 65, compared to 18.5% in England). This is predicted 
to increase, according to ONS population projections, with the 
Derbyshire 65 and over population accounting for approximately 
27.3% of the population in 2043. Older people have increased housing, 
accommodation, and support needs, in order to enable them to live 
independently for longer. Joining up planning, housing and health 
systems is needed to achieve this.

• Premature mortality is a good high-level indicator of the overall 
health of a population. Bolsover District has the highest level across 
Derbyshire for under 75-year-olds at 496.6 per 100,000.

• Lower quartile property prices are seven times as much as lower 
quartile income levels.

• People living in the private rented sector on lower quartile 
incomes spend 44% of their income on a lower quartile rent.

23



Private Sector Housing Strategy 724



Private Sector Housing Strategy8 Private Sector Housing Strategy8

3.  Strategic priorities and 
achievements 
Improving the private sector has been a priority for 
us for many years and is reflected within our policy 
and strategy framework. Over the past five years 
we have: 

• Continued to deliver adaptations through the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) process and in the 
year 2022/23 delivered 64 mandatory DFGs. This 
work is essential in allowing people to remain in 
their own homes in safety and with dignity. In 
addition to this we have delivered a pilot stairlift 
recycling project in partnership with Derbyshire 
County Council. The project enables stairlifts 
to be installed much sooner and as they are on 
loan to the customer, they are removed when 
no longer needed and then installed in whole 
or in part to other customers in need, hence the 
recycling element.

• Continued to participate in the Derbyshire 
Healthy Homes Project, which enables those 
suffering from cold related ill health to receive 
assistance in the repair/installation of heating 
systems and accessing insulation measures. 

Again, this is allowing people to remain in their 
own homes in safety and in comfort, addressing 
the impact of poor housing on health.

• Brought long-term empty properties back in 
to use. Significant achievements in the last five 
years have included the renovation of large 
empty properties such as the Station Hotel in 
Creswell (creating 15 apartments), the Miners 
Welfare in Creswell (creating 11 apartments), and 
the disused Coop building in Whitwell (creating 
five apartments).

• Held events to inform landlords of new 
regulations and what help is available for 
themselves and their tenants.

• Delivered the well-established community 
outreach service that provides help and support 
in financial matters, maximising income, and 
helping to improve overall health and wellbeing. 
The service has experienced increased demand 
because of the cost-of-living crisis and continues 
to help people remain in their own home and to 
access housing which is affordable and meets 

25



Private Sector Housing Strategy 9

their needs. Over the past three financial years 
the service has handled an increasing number 
of service requests, evidencing the increased 
demand for additional support provided to our 
residents. In 2020/21 there were 438 requests for 
service but in 2022/23 there were 777.

• Enforcement action taken against landlords 
whose properties do not comply with legislative 
standards. In one case, enforcement was 
pursued to such an extent that it resulted in 
a landlord being sentenced to 10 months in 
prison. This demonstrates the zero-tolerance 
approach giving a strong message to landlords. 
Set up the Supported Accommodation Review 
Team (SART) to ensure the standard of support, 
quality of accommodation and value for money 
of supported accommodation in the District, 
primary in the private sector.

• Undertaken project based proactive housing 
inspections to address poor housing conditions, 
fire risks, waste, and community safety in 
identified hotspots area. Whilst private sector 
housing work is reactive, we have been able to 
manage resources so that we can undertake 
some successful, proactive area-based work.

• Undertaken a project to promote the Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) (using 
Government funding) contacting all landlords 
with non-compliant EPCs. Half of all those 
landlords contacted achieved a higher EPC rating 
following our intervention.

• Continued to benefit from the resource of a 
Home Improvement Coordinator. This role 
enables us to provide support and assistance 
including energy efficiency and energy debt as 
well as general advice and assistance around 
housing repairs and access funding such as ECO 
or ECO flex.

3.1 Whilst we are proud of our achievements, we 
know there is plenty more to be done, and 
in preparing this strategy, we commissioned 
the most comprehensive review of the 
private sector that we have ever undertaken, 
alongside detailed discussions with partners 
and a tenant and landlord survey.

3.2 The outcomes of this work underpin the 
objectives within this strategy and align closely 
to our Vision statement.  This strategy will meet 
our Ambition Statement 2024-2028 vision and 
aims through the delivery of four objectives:

• Objective 1: Improve property and 
management standards

• Objective 2: Maintain and improve the 
supply of good quality, well-managed 
homes in the private rented sector

• Objective 3: Ensuring that housing 
standards and living conditions in 
Bolsover District contribute towards 
better health outcomes for all

• Objective: 4: Ensuring all areas, 
neighbourhoods, and streets in Bolsover 
District, irrespective of housing tenure 
or type, are places where people want to 
live and are proud to live.

3.3 The strategy is accompanied by an action 
plan which sets out what we hope to achieve 
and by when. The action plan will be agreed 
with partners and will be used to monitor 
progress over the period of the strategy.

9Private Sector Housing Strategy

2020/21

438
requests for service

2022/23

777

26



Private Sector Housing Strategy1010

The outcomes that will be achieved through this 
strategy are:

• Improved property condition across the 
private sector.

• Improved management standards across 
the private rented sector.

• Improved energy efficiency of homes in 
the private sector.

• Reduced number of properties with a 
category 1 hazard.

• Reduced levels of anti-social behaviour 
across our neighbourhoods.

• Reduced number of people presenting as 
homeless from the private rented sector.

• Increased access to the private rented 
sector to offer accommodation to 
homeless households.

• Increased supply of high-quality 
affordable housing for the private rented 
market.

• Residents living independently for longer.

• Improved targeting of resources to 
maximise our impact in the private sector.

• Reduced numbers of empty homes across 
the District.

27



4. Improve 
property and 
management 
standards
4.1 Improving property condition and 

management standards across the private 
sector is a primary objective of this strategy. 
Improving the housing stock is an essential 
part of protecting the health and wellbeing 
of our residents. If homeowner’s homes 
are in good condition, well insulated and 
safe, people will live healthier happier 
lives and a good supply of well-managed, 
well-maintained private rented homes can 
play a valuable role in helping to make 
more properties available to lower income 
households unable to access social housing, 
help vulnerable households to find suitable 
accommodation, and reduce homelessness. 
We believe everyone should have a good 
quality home no matter what tenure they 
live in.

4.2 All private housing should meet at least 
the minimum standards that comply with 
the legislative standards ensuring that 
the property does not cause a physical 
hazard or nuisance to residents and the 

local neighbourhood. We want to work with 
landlords to increase security, certainty, 
affordability, and stability for tenants but 
where landlords do not meet the required 
standards, we will do everything in our 
power to ensure that residents are safe in 
their homes. For vulnerable homeowners, 
we want to provide as much support as we 
can through advice, grants and loans.

Enforcement
4.3 The majority of landlords act with fairness 

and decency towards their tenants 
and those in the neighbourhoods of 
the homes they own. They maintain 
high standards of accommodation and 

1111Private Sector Housing Strategy
28



Private Sector Housing Strategy

manage their properties well, complying 
with the requirements of the law. Many 
landlords work with us and accept more 
challenging tenants, offering safe, suitable 
accommodation to those who may otherwise 
be homeless.

4.4 However, a small number of landlords 
completely disregard their duties and 
responsibilities towards their tenants 
and carry out unlawful actions. Their 
interest in properties is often limited to 
generating a rental income with little or 
no investment in the property, tenants, 
or wider residents and communities. 
The private sector is also becoming 
increasingly responsible for providing 
supported accommodation, often to those 
with the most challenging and complex 
needs. We have a role to play in ensuring 
such accommodation is well-managed and 
does not negatively impact other tenants 
and residents living in the area.

4.5 Enforcement is a core function of the 
environmental health team who conduct 
private sector housing work. Under the 
Housing Acts and related environmental 
health and building legislation, local 

councils have both legal powers and 
duties to deal with unsatisfactory housing 
conditions in the private sector. Targeting 
and focusing intervention and enforcement 
on the very worst properties, landlords, and 
agents has been a key area of focus for us 
over many years.

4.6 We have a crucial role in driving up housing 
standards in the private sector, and as such, 
we will focus our resources on those areas 
with the most insufficient housing stock and 
the least adequate property management. 
We will continue to use the powers provided 
to us and using the whole range of statutory 
provisions to facilitate the most appropriate 
solutions, sanctions and deterrents.

4.7 Over the lifetime of this strategy, we will 
design a housing enforcement policy, that 
reflects the range of enforcement provisions 
to support both resident and tenants living 
in the private sector.

Damp and Mould
4.8 We are fully aware of the impact damp and 

mould has on people’s lives and health. We 
are committed to having a clear and effective 
approach to this issue We are working 

12 29



across all tenures and with all partners to 
reduce the risks of damp and mould in our 
homes and all homes in the District and 
make sure that cases are being investigated 
fully. We have always investigated such 
service requests by offering site visits and 
do not solely offer advice leaflets as some 
authorities do.  However, there are further 
improvements that can be made.

4.9 During the lifetime of this strategy, we will:

• Increase our engagement with private 
landlords and residents in the District to 
tackle the issue of damp and mould. We 
are already taking enforcement action 
against landlords with damp and mouldy 
properties and are committed to holding 
private landlords to account on the 
condition of their properties.

• Promote advice to all residents about good 
practice to deal with damp and mould. 
For example, checking for leaks, ensure 
proper ventilation in areas like bathrooms, 
kitchens, and laundry rooms, using 
extractor fans or open windows when 
cooking, showering, or doing laundry to 
allow moisture to escape and ensuring that 
walls, roofs, and floors are well insulated.

• Improve our data recording to enable 
easy access to future data to be able to 
demonstrate our activities and better 
understand the extent of the issue in our 
district.

Promoting rights and 
responsibilities in the private 
rented sector
4.10 We want to increase awareness of the rights 

and responsibilities of tenants so that they 
are able to make more informed decisions 
about moving into a new home or discussing 
issues with landlords.

4.11 We are planning to deliver a campaign 
that ensures that people understand what 
an inexperienced landlord ‘looks like’ and 
how these are different to rogue landlords. 
Rogue landlords are not landlords who just 
‘get it wrong’. A rogue landlord has little 
regard for Fair Housing Laws, adhering to 
building codes, or respecting a tenant’s 
rights to privacy in their rental home. 

Private Sector Housing Strategy 1330



Private Sector Housing Strategy14

Instead, these landlords target vulnerable 
tenants and place them in overcrowded or 
poorly maintained accommodation. They 
may take part in discriminatory or harassing 
behaviour, increase rents at a moment’s 
notice, and evict tenants who may make a 
complaint, without legal grounds to do so.

4.12 This is not acceptable and tackling rogue 
landlords is a priority for us. A media 
campaign to ‘shop a rogue landlord’ will 
be established and promoted through our 
website and media channels. This will enable 
those people who do not know how to report 
rogue landlords to do so.

As part of our campaign to promote tenants’ 
rights, we will be designing a tenant’s 
checklist that equips tenants to ask the ‘right’ 
questions when viewing property and ensure 
all appropriate safety certificates are in 
place. Our check list will be co-produced with 
tenants and focus on areas such as Basic 
Information:

• The length of the lease

• Deposit and Fees

• How maintenance and repairs are handled

• References from previous tenants

• Emergency procedures in case of 
emergencies (e.g., fire, flooding)

Promoting DASH
4.13 To help improve the private rented sector, 

we have worked in partnership with DASH 
(Decent and Safe Homes) Services since 
2005. DASH is a nationwide scheme that 
encourages and rewards good property 
standards and management practice in the 
private rented sector.

4.14 The service provides a landlord accreditation 
scheme and ‘Call B4 You Serve’ to encourage 
support for landlords to limit evictions. We 
are now leading on a project to provide 
earlier intervention for the Call B4 You 
Serve service. We have an excellent working 
relation with DASH, and will be exploring 
how we may extend our partnership 
working, promoting the service more widely 
to landlords, increasing the number of 
properties that DASH inspects on our behalf, 
and exploring how the partnership can be 
strengthened to better share resources.

4.15 The loss of private sector tenancy is a 
significant reason for homelessness in 
Bolsover District.  We will coordinate our 
homelessness prevention approach to 
private rented sector tenants, working with 
Call Before You Serve, Derbyshire Law Centre 
and other partners to better understand the 
practical and financial support package that 
we can offer both landlords and tenants. 

31



Private Sector Housing Strategy 15

We will develop a private rented sector 
specific homeless prevention offer that will 
offer good quality advice and assistance to 
landlords and tenants in the District.

Promoting good practice and 
raising awareness
4.16 We recognise the need for collaborative 

efforts to raise awareness of tenant and 
landlord responsibilities and to expand good 
practice across the sector. We are committed 
to providing more advice and support to 
victims of unscrupulous landlords, taking 
enforcement action against landlords who 
rent substandard accommodation and 
exploit vulnerable tenants and those from 
marginalised groups. 

4.17 This will involve increasing the use of 
our media platforms for our standards, 
commitments, enforcement action, advice 
and support to both landlords and tenants, 
and continuing to work with lettings and 
management agents, developing formal 
partnership arrangements.

4.18 We facilitate regular landlord forums to 
share ideas about how we can work together 
to improve services for tenants and inform 
landlords of legislative requirements and 
changes. The focus is to:

• Provide partnership working opportunities.

• Co-operate with local landlord associations.

• Launch initiatives with landlords such as 
energy efficiency or greener homes.

• Improve access to training and learning.

• Provide forums for discussion and 
networking.

4.19 We will positively encourage landlords to 
join the Landlord Accreditation Scheme that 
is managed by DASH and to attend the local 
landlord forum events to educate landlords 
to provide better support and services for 
their tenants. We will be extending these 
invitations to letting agents too. We will be 
considering more practical benefits to secure 
membership and attendance at these events 
such as:

• Explore the option to provide loans to 
undertake improvement work, secured 

against future rent. This consideration 
would also apply to owners.

• Consider support packages to landlords to 
extend their portfolios if those properties 
are made available to us.

4.20 We recognise that not all landlords will 
be able to attend and so we will also trial 
promotion of information through online 
platforms.

Getting ahead of the game
4.21 Landlords must ensure that their rental 

property meets Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards (MEES). This means 
by law properties must have an energy 
performance certificate (EPC) rating of “E” or 
above.   Improving EPC ratings are better for 
the environment and better for all residents, 
in terms of the cost of heating and warmer 
homes.

4.22 We know that 65.7% of private rented homes 
and 53% of owner-occupied homes do not 
currently meet EPC C and we are planning to 
undertake research to better understand the 
plans of landlords and owners to improve 
the EPC rating of their properties and the 
support that may be required. We will then 
develop an Intervention Strategy on the 
support we can provide.

32



Private Sector Housing Strategy16

5. Maintain and improve the 
supply of good quality, well-
managed homes in the private 
rented sector
5.1 A key priority for us is to maximise the 

number of high-quality and genuinely 
affordable homes in the District for all our 
residents, catering for people from a wide 
range of backgrounds and on different 
incomes. This includes the private rented 
sector. A number of new pieces of legislation 
have been introduced relating to private 
sector housing and there are concerns that 
a number of landlords may choose to leave 
the market, selling their homes. Whilst these 
properties may remain in the sector, others 
may not; reducing supply.

Increasing access to the private 
rented sector
5.2 There are clear opportunities to increase 

access to the private rented sector through 
the development of an attractive and 
comprehensive Bolsover District landlord 
offer. Alongside this, we will explore the 
feasibility of developing a countywide private 
sector leasing scheme.

Our Homelessness Strategy recognises the 
important role that the private rented sector 
plays in meeting the housing needs of those 
who are experiencing homelessness or 
threatened with homelessness.

5.3 Increasing access to the number of private 
sector homes which can be used to support 
move-on accommodation for people who are 
homeless is critical if we are to reduce our 

33



1717

reliance on temporary accommodation and 
provide stable and secure homes for people. 
This is challenging; with the significant 
demand for private rented homes and 
increasing rent levels, landlords can ‘pick and 
choose’ tenants, taking advantage of higher 
rent levels than are payable by tenants who 
are reliant on Local Housing Allowance (LHA).

5.4 We have recruited a dedicated team that will 
work to engage with private sector landlords 
and agents and explore new ways of 
securing access to the private rented sector. 
By developing close working relationships 
with landlords and letting agents, this team 
will co-produce a tool kit of options that 
will enable us to increase access to more 
homes in the private rented sector and we 
will consider every potential option. Over the 
lifespan of this strategy, we will:

• Review our Bond Guarantee schemes, 
a fund set up to help those who 
are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness, to help finance a new rental 
property. We want to ensure this is working 
for both tenants and landlords. 

• Intervene where landlords are choosing 
to leave the sector to ensure that these 
homes remain in the private rented sector 
and are sold to accredited landlords.

• We will be consulting with landlords to 
identify those that want to extend their 
portfolios and consider how the council 
may be able to provide support.

• Explore working with brokers to find 
properties and provide short-term move-
on support to homeless families. 

5.5 Exploring the types of incentives we can 
offer landlords to help secure landlords’ 
engagement with us. We will research best 
practice elsewhere and consider new ideas 
of our own in conjunction with landlords 
and letting agents. Without pre-empting the 
outcomes of these discussions, we could 
explore:

• Options that support landlords to 
undertake improvement work, secured 
against future rent.

• Rent guarantees over and above Local 
Housing Allowance levels through 
considered and effective use of 

Discretionary Housing Payments and 
Homeless Prevention Grant. 

• We act as property guarantor.

• Up front rent payments.

• Additional support for tenants as tenancies 
start.

Building more homes
5.6 In 2022 Dragonfly Development Ltd, a 

Council owned company was set up with an 
accompanying business case which set out 
objectives to provide good quality private 
rented accommodation across the District.  
In addition, Dragonfly Development Ltd 
aspires to increase the supply, quality and 
range of housing to meet the needs of the 
growing population and support economic 
growth ensuring more good quality homes 
are available to buy.

Private Sector Housing Strategy
34



Private Sector Housing Strategy

6.  Ensuring that housing 
standards and living conditions 
contribute towards better health 
outcomes for all
6.1 Good quality housing is essential for 

everyone’s health and wellbeing; safe and 
sustainable housing can support good 
physical and mental health, reduce fuel 
poverty, decrease carbon emissions, reduce 
hospital admissions, and help people live 
independently for longer.

6.2 Poor housing is a driver of poor health and 
of pervasive and growing health inequalities. 
Housing also has a huge influence on mental 
health and wellbeing. Affordability has a major 
impact on an individual’s ability to keep homes 
warm and how people travel to work and 
maintain social connections. As well as physical 
housing conditions, environmental blight and 
anti-social behaviour can all influence the way 
people feel about where they live.

We are looking to be much more flexible about 
how we fund this agenda and will increase 
access to homes that are affordable. This may 
include:

• Supporting officers to manage bringing 
empty homes back into use.

• Investing in long-term empty private 
sector housing stock to bring it up to 
the Decent Homes Standard, with the 
proviso it becomes available to us for 
nominations.

• Providing support to sustain tenancies.

18 35



Private Sector Housing Strategy 19

6.3 The Derbyshire Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy contains a priority to ‘Support 
our vulnerable populations to live in well-
planned and healthy homes’ and recognises 
that older people in Derbyshire have 
increased housing, accommodation, and 
support needs. In order to enable older and 
vulnerable people to live independently 
for longer, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
will work to join up planning, housing, and 
health systems by empowering existing 
partnerships to work seamlessly together.

Health and safety at home for 
longer
6.4 The most vulnerable residents are those 

least likely to reach out for support and 
assistance when things go wrong. This is 
especially so for owner-occupiers who may 
not consider that we can support them 
where they are coping with significant 
disrepair or squalid living conditions that 
they are unable to rectify themselves. 

6.5 Poor quality or unsuitable accommodation 
can prevent people living independently in 
their home for longer and force unnecessary 
displacement, away from familiar 
surroundings. Many deteriorating situations 
in private rented housing stem from tenants 
and landlords not understanding their rights 
and responsibilities or not having the ability 
or capacity to exercise those rights. 

6.6 We believe that suitable, safe, and sustainable 
accommodation for everyone is a right, and 
is the foundation against which people can 
achieve positive life outcomes. Ensuring those 
with the most challenging and complex needs 
can sustain stable housing is seen as key to 
achieving more cohesive neighbourhoods in 
our district. Improving health and safety in 
existing homes will have a significant impact 
on people’s ability to remain living at home 
for longer. 

6.7 We offer a comprehensive adaptations 
service, futureproofing existing housing 
stock with relatively low-cost adaptations 
such as small ramps, grab or handrails, 
small steps to entrances, or moving power 
sockets. These are low-cost solutions 
to enable older people or people with a 
disability or complex housing needs to 
remain living independently. We will review 
how we maintain independent living. We will 

continue to promote the take up of these 
adaptations.

When we undertake adaptations, we will take 
a holistic approach and ensure that homes 
are safe. If additional work is required, we 
will undertake that so that residents can truly 
benefit from the adaptations they need.

6.8 It is often simpler for owner occupiers to 
access adaptations. As the owner of the 
property, they have the choice to have 
adaptations undertaken. This is not the case 
for tenants and ensuring that tenants living in 
the private rented sector are aware of these 
adaptations and that landlords are supportive 
of having them installed in their properties 
is essential. We know from experience that 
landlords may not understand tenants’ 
longer-term needs and may not wish to adapt 
property. As well as promoting adaptations to 
owner occupiers, we will be supporting older 
people or people with a disability or complex 
needs in the private rented sector and will 
explore options that:

• Better inform and advise landlords of 
the challenges for older people living in 
unsuitable properties and the potential 
support landlords can offer.

• Ensure training is provided to landlords 
about safeguarding.

• Provide better information and access to 
affordable warmth measures and how to 
secure them into their properties.

36



Private Sector Housing Strategy

• Provide specific training to enable 
landlords to support tenants as they 
age in place and educate landlords to be 
dementia friendly and aware of how to 
signpost tenants to support services.

• Develop a directory of support services for 
landlords to provide to tenants explaining 
the services available and a named referral 
point.

6.9 Encourage take up of Disabled Facilities 
Grants by offering a commitment to 
support landlords to find tenants requiring 
adaptations in the future.

Providing practical support for 
homeowners
6.10 Whilst the majority of home owner want 

to remain living in their home, others will 
want to move. One of the barriers for older 
households to move is trying to negotiate 
the purchase chain whilst trying to find the 
right home for their future, and in parallel 
to sell their current home.  These issues can 
prevent many moves. We will explore the 
impact this has on vulnerable older people 
and consider potential solutions which may 
include bridging loans for owners to move 

in a timeframe that works for them and 
to enable them to find the ‘right’ property, 
which may encourage more people to make 
the move. 

6.11 There may also be older people or people 
with a disability or complex needs that 
wish to move but are unable to afford a 
more appropriate home. Without financial 
support, these households are likely to 
be trapped in unsuitable housing. We will 
explore the potential of enabling owners to 
utilise the equity in their homes and move 
to a more suitable property by developing 
shared ownership products.

6.12 In the same way as owner occupiers or 
social tenants are enabled (social tenants 
through the downsizing scheme and owners 
through their equity) to access more suitable 
housing, households living in the private 
rented sector may be unable to do this. The 
cost of moving, facing a potentially higher 
rent, and finding a more suitable property 
may all act as barriers. We will research 
potential options to support low-income 
households living in the private rented sector 
to move to more suitable accommodation.

20 37



Private Sector Housing Strategy 21

Affordable warmth and fuel 
poverty
6.13 A home should be warm and comfortable 

and provide a healthy and welcoming 
environment that promotes well-being. 
Fuel poverty is influenced by three factors: 
a person’s income, the price of fuel, and the 
thermal efficiency of their home. Whilst we 
can signpost residents to increase benefit 
uptake and advice, we cannot influence a 
person’s income or the price of fuel. 

6.14 16.2% of households in Bolsover District are 
living in fuel poverty. We prioritise reducing 
the number of households experiencing fuel 
poverty.

6.15 However, we recognise the need to improve 
thermal comfort and reduce energy costs 
through a range of initiatives and will assist 
vulnerable residents to do so. This will also 
support our commitment to tackling climate 
change and reducing our carbon emissions.

6.16 We will:

• Continue to seek external funding 
opportunities to provide energy efficiency 
measures for both privately owned and 
rented homes. 

• Continue to use our affordable warmth 
coordinator post, to offer advice support 
and guidance for people to access financial 
incentives/grants and help with energy 
saving.

• Ensure landlords are aware of the potential 
funding support that is available and 
their obligations to provide housing that 
is sufficiently warm and comfortable, in 
compliance with minimum standards.

38



Private Sector Housing Strategy

7.  Ensuring all areas, 
neighbourhoods, and streets in 
Bolsover District, irrespective 
of housing tenure or type, are 
places where people want to live 
and are proud to live
7.1 A good mix of housing types and tenures is 

vital for creating sustainable communities 
and meeting the District’s housing needs. It 
is important that all our residential areas feel 
welcoming and safe and are locations where 
people are more likely to be invested in their 
homes and neighbourhoods.

7.2 We are a landlord working in neighbourhoods 
where private sector landlords operate. 
The proposed consumer standards by the 
Regulator of Social Housing recognise that 
part of a landlord’s role is to work with 

others to help with the upkeep and safety 
of the neighbourhoods and communities 
their homes are part of. The proposed 
Neighbourhood and Community Standard 
commits that landlords need to work with 
other organisations to contribute to the 
upkeep and safety of shared spaces.

7.3 A significant factor in neighbourhood decline is 
locations that attract short term renters, where 
rooms or properties are let out on a short-
term basis. Whilst this type of accommodation 
meets the housing needs of some in our 

22 39



Private Sector Housing Strategy 23

community, a proliferation of more transient 
short-term living makes it less likely that 
people will form connections to their local 
area and feel any ownership or investment in 
it.  

7.4 Empty homes can similarly lead to 
deterioration and attract blight, criminality, 
and community tension. Keeping the numbers 
and clusters of empty homes to a minimum 
is essential if we are to sustain healthy and 
thriving streets and estates. It is also the case 
that those living in deprived areas in the least 
energy-efficient homes are likely to be those 
living in fuel poverty. This can contribute 
to poor health outcomes for residents, the 
deterioration of general standards, and 
broader housing instability. Improving 
domestic energy efficiency will help us meet 
our zero carbon 2050 commitments, reduce 
carbon emissions, and protect residents from 
harmful effects of climate change.

We have a dedicated resource in the 
Shirebrook area to support migrant 
households. Regardless of tenure, it provides 
housing advice and assists with language 
barriers, referrals to environmental health 
where required, and referrals to letting agents 
and private rented properties. It offers support 
to ensure migrant households settle well into 
new communities.

7.5 It is important that all our neighbourhoods 
are welcoming and safe and are locations 
where people are invested in their homes 
and neighbourhoods. A high turnover of 
tenancies can lead to a decline in standards, 
outward migration of more established 
residents, and a spiral of decline. This can 
also impact the desirability of properties and 
locations and tension between more settled 
and short-term renters.

Sharing intelligence to target 
resources
7.6 Within the private rented sector, the worst 

criminal landlords operate under the radar, 
renting out a house per room, often using 
all space such as kitchens, cellars, and 
corridors as sleeping accommodation.  
Tenants in these properties are vulnerable, 
often undocumented, and extremely unlikely 
to contact the authorities for assistance. 

Likewise, for owner occupiers who are 
vulnerable and living in poor quality housing, 
many will not seek support. Our stock 
condition survey recommended a series 
of actions that will promote joint working 
protocols to help to address housing 
inequalities. This strategy is the platform for 
delivering those recommendations.

7.7 We will work with partners to create a 
database that will aggregate, monitor, 
and cross-reference data on properties to 
enable a better targeting of resources and 
act as an early warning system to predict 
challenges. This will be collated with private 
sector developed indices that predict certain 
activities and tenures which will provide 
profiles to assist us identify potential 
locations to target enforcement action, and 
as part of this, have a vulnerability index for 
people and the likelihood that services may 
be required.

Bringing empty homes back into 
use
7.8 Short-term empty homes are part of the 

normal housing market. However, long-
term empty homes are a wasted resource, 
have a negative impact on neighbouring 
properties, and often act as a focus for anti-
social behaviour. Keeping the numbers of 
empty homes to a minimum is essential if we 
are to sustain healthy and thriving streets 
and estates. We are planning to introduce 
the maximum charge on empty property 
through Council Tax premium and we are 

40



considering different options to enable 
homes to be brought back into use.

7.9 To reduce the number of empty homes in 
the District, over the next three years we will 
explore:

• The potential for a new bespoke product to 
provide repayable grant assistance to first 
time buyers to purchase long-term empty 
homes at the lower end of the market.

• The potential to act as guarantor on a 
mortgage to support first time buyers to 

buy a property and secure repayable grant 
to undertake improvements.

• The option to lease empty homes and 
improve them. These properties would be 
operated on the private rented market to 
recoup our investment.

Private Sector Housing Strategy24 41



Private Sector Housing Strategy 25

8.  Monitoring 
arrangements 
and delivery 
plan
Monitoring the Private Sector 
Housing Strategy
8.1 The action plans supporting this strategy will 

be monitored on an annual basis, with an 
annual report to Scrutiny and Executive.

Reviewing of the Private Sector 
Housing Strategy
8.2 The Private Sector Housing Strategy will be 

reviewed at least every three years in line 
with internal strategy/policy development 
procedures. The strategy may be reviewed 
more or less frequently than this as a result 
of changes in legislation, changes in our 
corporate vision or as a result of monitoring 
outcomes.

Minor changes which make no significant 
difference to service provision will be 
made to the document under delegated 
authority by the Assistant Director of 
Housing Management and Enforcement in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.

8.3 Responsibility for implementation.

Lead Assistant Director of Housing Management and 
Enforcement

Others with 
responsibility

Housing Services Manager

Housing Options Manager

Housing Strategy and Development Officer

Service Manager (Environmental Health)

Planning Policy and Housing Strategy Manager

42



Equalities Statement
Bolsover District Council is committed to equalities as an employer and when delivering the services it 
provides to all sections of the community.

The Council believes that no person should be treated unfairly and is committed to eliminating all 
forms of discrimination, advancing equality and fostering good relations between all groups in society.

Access for All statement
You can request this document or information in another format such as large print or language or 
contact us by:

• Phone - 01246 242424
• Email – enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk
• BSL Video Call – a three way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is free to call Bolsover District 

Council with Sign Solutions, you just need wifi or mobile data to make the video call, or call into one 
of our Contact Centres. 

• Call with Relay UK via textphone or app on 0800 500 888 - a free phone service provided by BT for 
anyone who has difficulty hearing or speaking. It's a way to have a real time conversation with us by 
text. 

• Visiting one of our offices at Clowne, Bolsover, Shirebrook and South Normanton.

 2
3-

14
70

43



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 
 

Objective 1: Improve Property and Management Standards 

Improving property condition and management standards across the private sector is a primary objective of the strategy. Improving the housing stock is an 
essential part of protecting the health and wellbeing of our residents.  If homeowner’s homes are in good condition, well insulated and safe, people will live 
healthier happier lives and a good supply of well-managed, well-maintained Private Rented homes can play a very valuable role in helping to make more 
properties available to lower income households unable to access social housing, help vulnerable households to find suitable accommodation, and reduce 
homelessness.  We believe everyone should have a good quality home no matter what tenure they live in. 

 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Design a 
housing 
enforcement 
policy, that 
reflects the 
range of 
enforcement 
provisions to 
support both 
resident and 
tenants living in 
the Private 
Sector. 

Review Best Practice 
elsewhere and include 
those elements that reflect 
the requirements of the 
District. 

   • Improved property 
condition across 
the private sector. 

• Improved 
management 
standards across 
the private rented 
sector. 

• Improved energy 
efficiency of homes 
in the private 
sector. 

• Reduced number 
of properties with a 
Category 1 hazard. 

  

Provide training and 
support or relevant officers 
to implement. 

   

44

A
ppendix 2



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Monitor and review    • Improved physical, 
mental health and 
wellbeing across 
the District. 

• Reduced levels of 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour across 
our neighbourhood. 

• Improved targeting 
of resources to 
maximise our 
impact in the 
private sector. 

• Reduced numbers 
of empty homes 
across the District. 

Reduce damp 
mould within 
properties 
across the 
District. 

Promote this agenda 
through the Landlord 
Forum and through the 
campaign to increase 
tenants’ rights and 
responsibilities. 

   • Improved property 
condition across 
the private sector. 

• Improved energy 
efficiency of homes 
in the private 
sector. 

• Reduced number 
of properties with a 
Category 1 hazard. 

• Improved physical, 
mental health and 
wellbeing across 
the District. 

  

Include this issue in the 
tenants check list and 
provide advice. 

   

45



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Promote advice to all 
residents about good 
practice to deal with damp 
and mould. This could be 
included on the tenants 
check list, through landlord 
forums, on the council 
website and through the 
planned campaign to 
increase tenants’ rights 
and responsibilities. 

   • Increased access 
to the private 
rented sector to 
offer 
accommodation to 
homeless 
households. 

• Improved targeting 
of resources to 
maximise our 
impact in the 
private sector. 

Use the evidence of were 
damp and mould is found 
to create property 
typologies to promote 
resource targeting. 

   

Increase 
awareness of 
the rights and 
responsibilities 
of tenants so 
that they are 
able to make 
more informed 
decisions about 
moving into a 
new home or 
discussing 
issues with 
landlords. 

Develop a campaign over a 
sustained time period of 
time to promote tenants 
and landlords’ rights and 
responsibilities. 

   • Improved property 
condition across 
the private sector. 

• Improved 
management 
standards across 
the private rented 
sector. 

• Improved energy 
efficiency of homes 
in the private 
sector. 

• Reduced number 
of properties with a 
Category 1 hazard. 

• Improved physical, 
mental health and 

  

Promote and educate what 
a ‘good landlord’ looks and 
behaves like. 

   

Develop a tenants check 
list that equips tenants to 
ask the ‘right’ questions 
when viewing property. 

   

46



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Ensure tenants know to 
ask if Landlords are 
members of DASH, the 
Landlord accreditation 
Scheme or the Landlords 
forum. 

   wellbeing across 
the District. 

• Reduced levels of 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour across 
our neighbourhood. 

• Reduced number 
of people 
presenting as 
homeless from the 
Private Rented 
Sector. 

• Increased access 
to the private 
rented sector to 
offer 
accommodation to 
homeless 
households. 

• Residents living 
independently for 
longer. 

• Improved targeting 
of resources to 
maximise our 
impact in the 
private sector. 

Publicise successful 
interventions of the Council 
to demonstrate the impact 
that can be made. 

   

Promote through: 
Website, partner 
organisations, other 
colleagues and 
departments, social media, 
in local service centres 
such as libraries, through 
the health service, the 
News etc. 

   

Promoting 
DASH 

Promote the Call B4 you 
serve service to encourage 
more landlords to use it 

   • Improved property 

condition across 

the private sector. 

  

47



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Meet with DASH colleague 
to develop a 3-year plan to 
complement the Private 
Sector Housing Strategy 
and maximise the role of 
the newly appointed 
officers. 

   • Improved 

management 

standards across 

the private rented 

sector. 

• Improved energy 

efficiency of 

homes in the 

private sector. 

• Reduced number 

of properties with a 

Category 1 

hazard. 

• Improved physical, 

mental health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

• Reduced levels of 

Anti-Social 

Behaviour across 

our 

neighbourhood. 

• Reduced number 

of people 

presenting as 

homeless from the 

Private Rented 

Sector. 

• Increased access 

to the private 

rented sector to 

offer 

Develop a Private Rented 
Sector specific homeless 
prevention offer that will 
offer good quality advice 
and assistance to landlords 
and tenants in the District. 

   

48



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Sub-Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

accommodation to 

homeless 

households. 

• Increased supply 

of high quality 

affordable housing 

for the private 

rented market. 

Improving 
energy 
efficiency in 
homes and EPC 
standards  

Ensure any plans are 
flexible given current 
government recent 
announcements to scrap 
EPC C requirements for 
2025 and 2028. 

   • Improved property 

condition across the 

private sector. 

• Improved energy 

efficiency of homes 

in the private 

sector. 

• Improved physical, 

mental health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

  

Participate in research to 
better understand the plans 
of landlords and owners to 
improve the EPC rating of 
their properties and the 
support that may be 
required. 

   

Develop an Intervention 
Strategy on the support the 
council can provide. 

   

  

49



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

 

Objective 2: Increasing and improving the Supply of Good Quality, Well-Managed Homes in the Private Rented Sector 

A key priority for the council is to maximise the number of high-quality and genuinely affordable homes in the District for all our residents, catering for people 
from a wide range of backgrounds and on different incomes. This very much includes the Private Rented Sector. A number of new pieces of legislation have 
been introduced relating to private sector housing and there are concerns that a number of landlords may choose to leave the market, selling their homes. 
Whilst these properties may remain in the sector, others may not; reducing supply. 

 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Increasing 
access to the 
Private Rented 
Sector. 

Review Best Practice 
elsewhere and include 
those elements that reflect 
the requirements of the 
District. 

   • Reduced number of 

people presenting 

as homeless from 

the Private Rented 

Sector. 

• Increased access to 

the private rented 

sector to offer 

accommodation to 

homeless 

households. 

  

Identify local letting agents 
managing property and 
develop closer links, 
engaging agents into 
landlord forums, through 
the media campaign and 
through regular 1:1 
conversation about the 
activity in the sector. 

   

Through discussions with 
local landlord and letting 
agents develop a tool kit of 
options that will enable the 
council to increase access 
to more homes in the 
Private Rented Sector. 

   

50



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Review our Bond 
Guarantee scheme, to 
ensure it is relevant in the 
current market. 

   

 DRAGONFLY 
 
 

      

 

Objective 3: Ensuring that Housing Standards and Living Conditions in Bolsover Contribute Towards Better Health Outcomes for All 

Good quality housing is essential for everyone’s health and wellbeing; safe and sustainable housing can support good physical and mental health, reduce 
fuel poverty, decrease carbon emissions, reduce hospital admissions, and help people live independently for longer. 

Poor housing is a driver of poor health and of pervasive and growing health inequalities. Housing also has a huge influence on mental health and 
wellbeing. Affordability has a major impact on an individual’s ability to keep homes warm and how people travel to work and maintain social connections. As 
well as physical housing conditions, environmental blight and anti-social behaviour can all influence the way people feel about where they live 

 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Explore the 
options to 
introduce/rename 
new minor 
adaptations. 

Introduce: 

− Hospital discharge 

grant,  

− Dementia grants, and 

− Smart Home Kits. 

   • Improved 

physical, mental 

health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

• Residents living 

independently for 

longer. 

  

Agree funding limits, 
criteria of support, 
application process, 
assessment and 
implementation. 

   

51



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Explore options 
that support 
older and 
vulnerable 
tenants living in 
the Private 
Rented sector. 

Better inform and advise 
landlords of the challenges 
for older people living in 
unsuitable properties and 
the potential support 
landlords can offer. 

   • Improved 

physical, mental 

health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

• Residents living 

independently for 

longer. 

  

Ensure training is provided 
to landlords about 
safeguarding. 

   

Provide better information 
and access to affordable 
warmth measures and 
how to secure them into 
their properties. 

   

Provide specific training to 
enable landlords to 
support tenants as they 
age in place and educate 
landlords to be dementia 
friendly and aware of how 
to sign post tenants to 
support services. 

   

52



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Develop a directory of 
support services for 
landlords to provide to 
tenants explaining the 
services available and a 
named referral point. 

   

Encourage take up of 
Disabled Facilities Grants 
by offering a commitment 
to support landlords to find 
tenants requiring 
adaptations in the future. 

   

Support older 
and vulnerable 
residents in the 
private sector to 
move to more 
appropriate 
accommodation. 
 
Households living 
in the private 
sector struggle to 
move to a more 
appropriate 
accommodation.   

Consider options that the 
Council could support 
such as bridging loans for 
owners to move in a 
timeframe that works for 
them and to enable them 
to find the ‘right’ property, 
which may encourage 
more people to make the 
move. 

   • Improved 

physical, mental 

health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

• Residents living 

independently for 

longer. 

  

This should also consider 
the role of equity loans 
and creating shared 
ownership products. 

   

53



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Improve thermal 
comfort and 
reduce energy 
costs for older 
and vulnerable 
people in the 
private sector. 

Continue to seek external 
funding opportunities to 
provide energy efficiency 
measures for both 
privately owned and 
rented homes. 

   • Improved energy 

efficiency of 

homes in the 

private sector. 

• Improved 

physical, mental 

health and 

wellbeing across 

the District. 

  

Continue to use affordable 
warmth coordinator post, 
to offer advice support and 
guidance for people to 
access financial 
incentives/grants and help 
with energy saving. 

   

Ensure landlords are 
aware of the potential 
funding support that is 
available and their 
obligations to provide 
housing that is sufficiently 
warm and comfortable, in 
compliance with minimum 
standards. 

   

  

54



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

 

Objective: 4:  Ensuring All Areas, Neighbourhoods, and Streets in Bolsover, irrespective of Housing Tenure or Type, Are Places 
Where People Want to Live and Are Proud to Live 

A good mix of housing types and tenures is vital for creating sustainable communities and meeting the District’s housing needs. It is important that all our 
residential areas feel welcoming and safe and are locations where people are more likely to be invested in their homes and neighbourhoods. 

 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Sharing 
intelligence to 
target 
resources. 

Work with partners to 
create a database that will 
aggregate, monitor, and 
cross-reference data on 
properties to enable a 
better targeting of 
resources and act as an 
early warning system to 
predict challenges. 

      

This will be collated with 
private sector developed 
indices that predict certain 
activities and tenures 
which will provide profiles 
to assist the council to 
identify potential locations 
to target enforcement 
action, and as part of this, 
have a vulnerability index 
for people and the 
likelihood that services 
may be required. 

   

55



OFFICIAL - DRAFT 
 

 

OFFICIAL - DRAFT 

Key Action  Action 
Progress 
Update 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Target 
Date 

Expected 
Outcome 

Resources Actual Outturn 

Brining Empty 
Homes back 
into use. 

Review Best Practice 
elsewhere on the potential 
delivery models being 
used by other councils and 
include those elements 
that reflect the 
requirements of the 
District. 

   Reduced numbers of 
empty homes across 
the District. 

  

Explore options for the 
Council leasing empty 
homes and improving 
them.  These properties 
would be rented out on the 
private rented market to 
recoup the council 
investment. 

   

Explore the potential for a 
new bespoke product to 
provide repayable grant 
assistance to first time 
buyers to purchase long-
term empty homes at the 
lower end of the market. 

   

Consider the Council 
acting as guarantor on a 
mortgage to support first 
time buyers to buy a 
property and secure 
repayable grant to 
undertake improvements. 

   

 

56



 

 
 
 

 
Bolsover District Council 

 
Meeting of Customer Services Scrutiny Committee on 22nd January 2024 

 
Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 

 
Report of the Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

 
 

Classification 
 

This report is Public 
 

Contact Officer  Thomas Dunne-Wragg, Scrutiny Officer 
 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

 To provide members of the Scrutiny Committee with an overview of the meeting 
programme of the Committee for 2023/24. 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The main purpose of the report is to inform members of the meeting programme 

for the year 2023/24 and planned agenda items (Appendix 1). 
 
1.2 This programme may be subject to change should additional reports/presentations 

be required, or if items need to be re-arranged for alternative dates. 
 
1.3 Review Scopes submitted will be agreed within Informal Session in advance of 

the designated meeting for Member approval to ensure that there is sufficient 
time to gather the information required by Members and to enable forward 
planning of questions. 

 
1.4 Members may raise queries about the programme at the meeting or at any time 

with the Scrutiny & Elections Officer should they have any queries regarding 
future meetings. 

  

57

Agenda Item 7



 

1.5 All Scrutiny Committees are committed to equality and diversity in undertaking their 
statutory responsibilities and ensure equalities are considered as part of all 
Reviews.  The selection criteria when submitting a topic, specifically asks members 
to identify where the topic suggested affects particular population groups or 
geographies. 

 
1.6 The Council has a statutory duty under s.149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 

to the need to advance equality of opportunity and to eliminate discrimination.   
 
1.7 As part of the scoping of Reviews, consideration is given to any consultation that 

could support the evidence gathering process. 
 

 
2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1 Attached at Appendix 1 is the meeting schedule for 2023/24 and the proposed 

agenda items for approval/amendment. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3.1 This report sets the formal Committee Work Programme for 2023/24 and the 

issues identified for review. 
 
3.2 The Scrutiny Programme enables challenge to service delivery both internally 

and externally across all the Council Ambitions. 
 
3.3 The Scrutiny functions outlined in Part 3.6(1) of the Council’s Constitution requires 

each Scrutiny Committee to set an annual work plan. 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 There is no option to reject the report as the Scrutiny functions outlined in Part 

3.6(1) of the Council’s Constitution requires each Scrutiny Committee to set an 
annual work plan. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

1. That Members review this report and the Programme attached at Appendix 1 
for approval and amendment as required. All Members are advised to contact 
the Scrutiny & Elections Officer should they have any queries regarding future 
meetings. 
 

  

58



 

 

IMPLICATIONS; 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐          No ☒  

Details: None from this report. 
 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):          Yes☒ No ☐  

Details: In carrying out scrutiny reviews the Council is exercising its scrutiny powers 

as laid out in Part 1A, s9F(2) of the Local Government Act 2000. 

 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

 

Environment: 

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 

carbon neutral target or enhance the environment. 

Details: None from this report. 

 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: None from this report. 
 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a 
significant impact on two or more District wards or which 
results in income or expenditure to the Council above the 
following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

No 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  

No 
 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

N/A 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

Yes 
 
Details: 
Committee Members 
 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy and Environment. 
 

All 
 

 

59



 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 

Title 

1. CSSC Work Programme 2023/24 

 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going to 
Executive you must provide copies of the background papers). 

Previous versions of the Committee Work Programme. 
 

 

60



 

Customer Services Scrutiny Committee  
 

Work Programme 2023/24 
 
Formal Items – Report Key 
 

Performance Review Policy Development Policy/Strategy/ 
Programme Monitoring 

Review Work Call-In/Review of  
Executive Decisions 

Petition 

      

 

Date of 
Meeting  

 Items for Agenda Lead Officer 

19 June 2023 Part A – 
Formal 

 Agreement of Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

   Customer Service Standards and Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints 2022/23 – 1st January 2023 to 31st March 2023 and 
Annual Summary 

Customer Services, Standards and 
Complaints Manager 

   Tenant Engagement Strategy Assistant Director of Housing 
Management & Enforcement 

   Equality Plan and Objectives 2023-27 Information, Engagement & 
Performance Manager 

   Review of Members ICT & Support and ICT Service Delivery: 
Executive Response 

Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

24 July 2023 Part A – 
Formal 

 Business Rates Mandatory and Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Director of Finance/S151 Officer 

   Customer Service Standards and Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints 2023/24 – 1st April 2023 to 30th June 2023  

Customer Services, Standards and 
Complaints Manager 

   Review of Council-owned Adapted Accommodation: Final Monitoring 
Report 

Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny & Elections Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny & Elections Officer 
 
 

61

A
ppendix 1



 

Date of 
Meeting  

 Items for Agenda Lead Officer 

25 September 
2023 

Part A – 
Formal 

 LG&SCO and Housing Ombudsman Annual Report 2022/23 Customer Services, Standards and 
Complaints Manager 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny Officer 

   Site Visit – HW Martins  

20 November 
2023 

Part A – 
Formal 

 Customer Service Standards and Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints 2023/24 – 1st July 2023 to 30th September 2023 

Customer Services, Standards and 
Complaints Manager 

   Consultation on Draft Allocations Policy Assistant Director of Housing 
Management & Enforcement 

   New Council Ambition 2024-2028 – Scrutiny Consultation Senior Management 
Team/Performance 

   Review of Members ICT & Support and ICT Service Delivery: Interim 
Monitoring Report 

Scrutiny Officer 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny Officer 

22 January 
2024 

Part A – 
Formal 

 Private Sector Housing Strategy Assistant Director of Housing 
Management & Enforcement 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny Officer 

25 March 2024 Part A – 
Formal 

 Customer Service Standards and Compliments, Comments and 
Complaints Report 2022/23 – 1st October 2023 to 31st December 
2023 

Customer Services, Standards and 
Complaints Manager 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 
 
 

 Review work Scrutiny Officer 

62



 

Date of 
Meeting  

 Items for Agenda Lead Officer 

22 April 2024 Part A – 
Formal 

 Housing Strategy 2021-24 – Action Plan Monitoring Update Assistant Director of Housing 
Management & Enforcement/ 
Assistant Director of Planning and 
Planning Policy 

   Housing Strategy 2024-2029: Consultation Assistant Director of Housing 
Management & Enforcement/ 
Assistant Director of Planning and 
Planning Policy 

   Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 Scrutiny Officer 

 Part B – 
Informal 

 Review work Scrutiny Officer 

 

63


	Agenda
	5 List of Key Decisions and Items to be Considered in Private
	6 Private Sector Housing Strategy
	23-1470 Private Sector Housing Strategy v5
	Delivery plan Bolsover vJW

	7 Customer Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24
	7.1 App1. CSSC - Work Programme 2022-23 v220124


